FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/18/2021 1:59 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/19/2021
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99589-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 79145-1-I)

ATM SHAFIQL KHALID, an individual, and XENCARE
SOFTWARE, INC., a Washington corporation,

Petitioners

v.

CITRIX SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation with branch office in
Washington,

Respondent

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

921 Hildebrand Lane NE
Suite 240
Bainbridge Island, WA
98110
(206) 264-1818

CONNOR & SARGENT PLLC
Stephen P. Connor, WSBA No. 14305
Anne Marie E. Sargent, WSBA No. 27160
Derik R. Campos, WSBA No. 47374

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals incorrectly applied this Court’s guidance on remedies available for violation of RCW 19.86.030 and denied appellant a trial on his claim for damages provided for in RCW 19.86.090. This case arises from respondent Citrix’s assertions of ownership of Petitioner ATM Shafiqul Khalid’s inventions claimed by Citrix under a “Non-Solicitation, Non-Compete and Confidentiality and Employee Non-Disclosure Agreement” found by the trial court to have violated RCW 49.44.140. Having found a violation of RCW 49.44.140, and consequently a *per se* unfair and deceptive practice under RCW 19.86.020, the Court dismissed appellant’s claim for violation of RCW 19.86.030 on Citrix’s motion, arguing lack of actionable agreement, an argument contrary to direction from this Court in *Sheppard v. Blackstock Lumber Co.*, 85 Wn. 2d 929, 540 P.2d 1373 (1975) and *Wood v. May*, 73 Wn. 2d 307, 438 P.2d 587 (1968) that agreements between employer and employee restraining trade violate RCW 19.86.030. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s ruling on grounds not raised by Citrix, finding that the trial court’s reformation of the inventions assignment clause contained in the Confidentiality Agreement (“Invention Assignment Clause”)– seven years after Khalid’s claim arose – in effect cured the RCW 19.86.030 violation, ignoring the damages Khalid suffered in the interim. In so doing, the Court

of Appeals wrongly applied this Court's decisions in *Sheppard, Wood* and *Waterjet Tech., Inc. v. Flow Int'l Corp.*, 140 Wn. 2d 313, 996 P.2d 598 (2000). *Sheppard* and *Wood* state the well-recognized rule that unreasonable restraints on trade will not be enforced and they may be reformed in equity. Neither of them, nor any other Washington case, holds that reformation in equity takes away appellant's claim for damages. The Court of Appeals effectively denied employees the right to the damages provided for in RCW 19.86.090. In holding that Khalid was limited to the equitable remedy of reformation, the Court of Appeals also infringed on Khalid's constitutional right to a jury trial of the damages provided for by RCW 19.86.090; *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn. 2d 636, 771 P.2d 711 (1989).

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The petitioner is ATM Shafiqul Khalid, hereinafter Khalid, the Plaintiff in the trial court and the petitioner in the Court of Appeals.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division I, unpublished decision filed December 7, 2020, attached as Appendix 1 ("Opinion") which decision was the subject of a motion for reconsideration filed by respondents and denied by the Court of Appeals

on February 16, 2021. The Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration is attached as Appendix 2.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Should the Court reverse the Court of Appeals' decision that reformation of Citrix's illegal Invention Assignment Clause years after Citrix demanded Khalid assign inventions owned by him, foreclosed Khalid's recovery of resulting damages (and treble damages on them) as provided for in RCW 19.86.090?
2. Should the Court reverse the Court of Appeals' affirmation of the trial court's summary dismissal of Khalid's claim under RCW 19.86.030 where its holding that equitable reformation of Citrix's illegal Invention Assignment Clause deprived Khalid of his constitutional right to a jury trial of the damages provided for by RCW 19.86.090?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background.

The Parties.

Khalid was born in Bangladesh and obtained a master's degree in computer engineering the United States. CP 874; ¹ RP 373:5-12; RP

¹ Record citations in this brief are to the record designated by Citrix in its Appeal Number 79405-1 (its appeal of the attorney fees awarded against it). That record contains all records designated by both parties on all

379:8-21; RP 381:14-19; RP 382:13-22; RP 390:14-391:5. Following school, Khalid worked at Microsoft for eight years on a team that developed the 64-bit Windows architecture. CP 874; RP 396:2-4; RP 398:2-4; RP 398:18-399:16. Khalid was hired by Citrix for its Citrix Labs division in Redmond in 2006. CP 874; RP 434:15-24; RP 441:14-24; RP 1704:13-16; RP 1705:20-1706:7.

Citrix is a multibillion-dollar company that provides desktop virtualization and server and networking services.

The Confidentiality Agreement and Exhibit B to that Agreement.

At the time he was hired by Citrix, Khalid was given Citrix's form "NON-SOLICITATION, NON-COMPETE, AND CONFIDENTIALITY AND EMPLOYEE NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT" CP 889-899; Tr. Ex. 3; RP 444:24-43:12; Tr. Ex. 4; RP 447:1-14.

Paragraph 7 of the Confidentiality Agreement provided for an assignment by Khalid of any intellectual property developed by Khalid during the term of his employment with Citrix, which related – directly or indirectly – to the work of Citrix CP 875-877, CP 891-892; Tr. Ex. 4. That paragraph also stated that any items identified on Exhibit B to the

appeals related to this case, and therefore provides a basis for citation to a single record across all related briefing.

agreement “are excluded from and shall not be assigned to Citrix pursuant to this Agreement.” *Id.* Paragraph 7 expressly indicated that the items listed on Exhibit B need not be described in detail: “I understand that it is only necessary to list in Exhibit B the title and purpose of such Developments but not details thereof.” *Id.* Complying with the directive of Paragraph 7, Khalid listed on “Exhibit B, Schedule of Separate Works” twelve works, six of which were then the subject of patent applications, in which he had “any right title or interest, and which were conceived or written, either wholly or in part, by...[him] prior to or outside the scope of my employment by Citrix, and are not assigned to Citrix pursuant to Section 7....” CP 875-877, CP 898; RP 448:1-10; Tr. Ex. 4.

The Inventions.

The works Khalid listed on Exhibit B included works that were the basis for patents applied for by and issued to Khalid and/or to XenCare, a start-up he had established to market his inventions. CP 877-882; CP 909-922; CP 923-962; Tr. Ex. 155; Tr. Ex. 162. Some related to a software subscription service system, which eventually evolved into something he termed a “mini-cloud” system, Tr. Ex. 4, RP 493:8-24, Tr. Ex. 157, RP 500:7-501:5, Tr. Ex. 158, Tr. Ex. 159, Tr. Ex. 160, Tr. Ex. 161, and others concerned a whitelisting computer security system. CP 877-882; CP 909-922; CP 923-962; RP 472:12-473:5, RP 482:10-483:20; Tr. Ex. 151; Tr.

Ex. 152. Patents were ultimately issued on both the mini-cloud (Patent No. 8,782,637, CP 923-962; Tr. Ex. 162) and software security inventions (Patent No. 8,286,219, CP 909-922; Tr. Ex. 155).

Citrix Wrongfully Asserts Ownership of Khalid's Works.

On October 25, 2011, Khalid received a letter from Kellan Ponikiewicz who was identified as Intellectual Property Counsel for Citrix, asserting generally that anything Khalid had worked on while employed by Citrix belonged to Citrix. CP 883-884; CP 1088-1089; Tr. Ex. 113; RP 823:14-21. In that letter Ms. Ponikiewicz stated that Khalid would not be paid his severance until he had complied with the obligations she asserted were imposed on him by the Confidentiality Agreement. CP 1088-1089; Tr. Ex. 113.

Khalid exchanged multiple emails with Ms. Ponikiewicz explaining his inventions and patent applications and why Citrix was not entitled to claim ownership of them. CP 1064-1087; RP 829:15-832:21; Tr. Ex. 114, Ex; 115; Tr. Ex. 116; Tr. Ex. 117. Khalid cited and called to her attention RCW 49.44.140 governing the assignment of an employee's rights to inventions and explained how the invention assignment provision contained in Citrix's Confidentiality Agreement on which Ms. Ponikiewicz was basing the claim that Citrix owned Khalid's inventions was illegal. CP 898; Tr. Ex. 116.

In demanding assignment, Ms. Ponikiewicz did not explain to Khalid why his disclosures on Exhibit B did not protect the inventions or why Washington law did not apply. CP 884; RP 839:14-840:21; RP 843:9-844:11. In fact, Ms. Ponikiewicz did not undertake any review of whether the Confidentiality Agreement complied with Washington law, despite Khalid's request that she do so. CP 1242-1243; CP 1078.

In December, 2011, Khalid was contacted by another attorney for Citrix, Robert Feldman. CP 884; RP 841:2-11. Over the course of the next several months Feldman made various demands that Khalid sign agreements assigning Citrix some or all of his patents, upon threat of litigation. CP 884; CP 1113-1118; RP 854:20-25; RP 855:9-856:1; RP 858:12-859:1; Tr. Ex. 225; 226. Although Khalid was very concerned about the conversations with Ms. Ponikiewicz and Mr. Feldman, because Citrix had no right to any of the patents it was asking for, he refused to sign any of the documents presented. RP 856:2-9.

Despite the plain language of Section 7 and Exhibit B, Citrix continued to assert through trial that it owned Khalid's intellectual property and refused to pay Khalid his severance because he would not assign his intellectual property to Citrix. CP 884-885; RP 857:24-858:6.

Citrix's Wrongful Assertion of Ownership of Khalid's Inventions Destroys Khalid's Businesses.

Prior to his termination by Citrix, Khalid had a security software product ready for market and a prototype "mini-cloud" device. CP 881-882; RP 554:19-555:9; RP 569:16-570:6. He had founded companies (XenCare for security products, and PcXen for mini-cloud products) to bring these products to market. RP 562:14-24; RP 844:5-8. Quamrul Mina, the principal of Pragma Systems, a well-established software security company, agreed to buy for re-sale 50,000 licenses for Khalid's software security product, to market them to Pragma's customers and to invest \$100,000 in XenCare. Tr. Ex. 355. Mr. Mina confirmed Pragma's agreements in a letter he sent to Khalid and in testimony at trial. *Id.* RP 689:23-690:8; RP 691:12-692:6. Mr. Mina testified, and his letter confirmed that the commitments made by Pragma were contingent on Khalid having clean title to the security invention. Tr. Ex. 355; RP 694:11-695:10. When Citrix asserted ownership of Khalid's inventions, Pragma was unwilling to proceed. RP 694:11-695:10.

Khalid had also found an experienced software executive, Robert Kapela, to be CEO of a company to monetize his mini-cloud invention. CP 1192; RP 977:23-978:1; RP 1458:15-1459:5; Tr. Ex. 123. Kapela was also interested in investing in the business. Tr. Ex. 123. His willingness to

become involved and to invest was likewise contingent on Khalid having clean title to his inventions. RP 1116:3-1117:24. Following Citrix's wrongful assertions, Khalid was unable to retain Mr. Kapela or get investment from him or from several other individuals who had indicated a willingness to invest in Khalid's businesses. CP 1192; RP 977:23-978:1; RP 1458:15-1459:5.

B. Dismissal of Khalid's Claim under RCW 19.86.030.

Khalid alleged that Citrix's actions, among other things, constituted violations of Washington's Consumer Protection Act, including both RCW 19.86.020 and RCW 19.86.030. CP 523-549. On motion for partial summary judgment, the trial court found that Citrix's Invention Assignment Clause violated RCW 49.44.140 and constituted a per se unfair practice under RCW 19.86.020. CP 2054-2060. However, the trial court denied Khalid's motion as it pertained to his claim under RCW 19.86.030. CP 2057-2059. Citrix subsequently moved for partial summary judgment including on Khalid's claim under RCW 19.86.030 arguing that there could not be an actionable conspiracy between Khalid and Citrix, citing federal authority. CP 4237-4239. Khalid opposed the motion, citing this Court's decision in *Sheppard* holding that a non-competition agreement between an employer and employee can violate RCW

19.86.030. CP 4842-4861; CP 4855-4856. The trial court granted Citrix's motion. CP 5426-5428.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Khalid's RCW 19.86.030 claim on grounds not raised by Citrix at trial or on appeal. Opinion, at 21-27. It held that to the extent that Citrix had violated RCW 19.86.030, Khalid's the only remedy available to him was reformation of Citrix's Invention Assignment Clause which had already been accomplished by the trial court. *Id.*

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case involves "issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." If the Court of Appeals' decision is permitted to stand, RCW 19.86.090 will be improperly narrowed to preclude the award of damages in any context in which an unreasonable restraint or conduct can be prevented prospectively by the grant of injunctive relief. Such a limitation is not present anywhere in the plain text of the statute and is contrary to the statutory prohibition on restraints in trade or commerce. Review should also be granted under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) because the Court of Appeals' holding improperly extends this Court's opinion's in *Waterjet*, *Sheppard* and *Wood* to stand for the proposition that damages are not

recoverable by parties subject to unreasonable restraints where the effect of those restraints can be ameliorated prospectively by injunctive relief. None of those cases addressed the availability of damages and none warrant the result reached by the Court of Appeals. And, federal authority is to the contrary. *See CVD, Inc. v. Raytheon Co.*, 769 F.2d 842, 856 (1st Cir. 1985). Finally, review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the Court of Appeals' decision that persons subject to illegal restraints are limited to the equitable remedy of reformation infringes on individual's constitutional right to a jury trial of their claim for the damages provided for by RCW 19.86.090.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Disregards the Plain Text of RCW 19.86.090 Which Affords Persons Subject to Illegal Restraints of Trade the Right to Damages *and* Declaratory Relief.

RCW 19.86.030 prohibits "every contract, combination, in the form of trust or otherwise, or conspiracy in restraint of trade or commerce." Washington's Constitution itself prohibits illegal restraints of trade. *See* WA Const. Art. XII, § 22. Consonant with this policy concern, the legislature provided for the enforcement of RCW 19.86.030 through civil litigation by private individuals and expressly provided a multiplicity of remedies including injunctive relief, actual damages, attorney fees and treble damages. RCW 19.86.090 provides in part:

Any person who is injured in his or her business or property by a violation of RCW . . . 19.86.030 . . . or any person so injured because he or she refuses to accede to a proposal for an arrangement which, if consummated, would be in violation of RCW 19.86.030 . . . may bring a civil action in superior court to enjoin further violations, to recover the actual damages sustained by him or her, *or both* . . .

Emphasis added.

The Court of Appeals did not address the question of whether the illegal Confidentiality Agreement was actionable under *Sheppard* and affirmed dismissal based on its conclusion that reformation under *Sheppard* was the sole remedy for Citrix’s violation of both RCW 49.44.140(1) and RCW 19.86.030. No case so holds. The Court of Appeals’ decision is contrary to the express language of RCW 19.86.090 which provides that victims of illegal restraints are entitled to *both* injunctive relief and damages and it denied Khalid the damages specifically provided for by the Legislature in RCW 19.86.090.²

² In *Atm Shafiqul Khalid v. Microsoft Corp.*, No. C19-130-RSM, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 60263 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 6, 2020), the district court, applying federal law, concluded, among other things, that the employee inventions agreement was not actionable based on *Copperweld Corp. v. Indep. Tube Corp.*, 467 U.S. 752, 104 S. Ct. 2731 (1984). *Copperweld* has not been adopted in Washington and it is contrary to the holding in *Sheppard*. The district court decision is on appeal.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Was Based on an Improper Extension of this Court's Decisions in *Waterjet*, *Sheppard* and *Wood*, none of which addressed the availability of damages.

Sheppard and its predecessor, *Wood v. May*, do not support the result that the Court of Appeals reached. In *Sheppard* and *Wood* this Court remanded those cases to the trial court to determine whether, and to what extent, the restrictive covenants between the employer and the employee at issue could be enforced so as not to constitute an unreasonable restraint in violation of RCW 19.86.030. In neither did this Court address whether reformation of the contracts at issue would preclude a claim for damages. In *Wood*, suit had been brought by the employer and the employee had made no claim for damages. In *Sheppard*, the issue of damages was not addressed in the court's holding.³ Persuasive federal authority holds

³ The opinion in *Sheppard* does not indicate whether the issue of damages was even raised on appeal and it appeared unlikely that the plaintiff there had suffered any damages as he had chosen to compete with his prior employer despite the existence of the non-compete provision at issue in the case. *Baker's Aid, a Div. of M. Raubvogel Co., Inc. v. Hussmann Foodservice Co.*, 730 F. Supp. 1209, 1211(1990), relied on by the Court of Appeals is similarly distinguishable. In *Baker's Aid*, the plaintiff sought an injunction alleging that the Defendant had breached a non-compete agreement it had entered into with the Plaintiff concerning the sale of ovens. The Defendant counterclaimed alleging that the non-compete agreement was an unreasonable restraint of trade. The District court altered the agreement and found that as modified, the agreement did not constitute an unreasonable restraint of trade. As in *Wood*, was no indication that the Defendant in *Baker's Aid* had sought damages (and it seemed unlikely that it had incurred any as it had continued to manufacture equipment in alleged contravention of the challenged

damages are recoverable under the antitrust laws in cases where parties attempt to bind others to illegally restrictive contracts. *See. e.g., CVD, Inc. v. Raytheon Co.*, 769 F.2d 842 (1st Cir. 1985).

The Court of Appeal's holding was also based in part on this Court's decision in *Waterjet* which the Court of Appeals held stood for the proposition that RCW 49.44.140(1) precludes a claim for damages and limited an employee subject to an illegal assignment provision to reformation as a remedy. It does not. In *Waterjet*, this Court was asked to decide whether an employer's failure to give an employee separate notice of their rights to inventions created by them on their own time and using their own resources as required by RCW 49.44.140(3) rendered an invention assignment agreement between the employee and the employer void. This court held that in that case, unlike here, the patents at issue had not been developed by the employee using his own time and resources and that the employment agreement itself constituted sufficient notice to satisfy RCW 49.44.140(3). This Court further held, in what, given its findings that the employee had used the company's time and resources amounted to dicta, that any deficiency in the notice given could be corrected by striking the provisions of the employment agreement

agreement), and the court did not analyze whether reformation precluded a claim for damages.

inconsistent with RCW 49.44.140(1). However, the plaintiff in *Waterjet* made no claim for damages, he only sought a declaration that he was not bound by the assignment agreement he had signed. Thus, this Court was not presented with, nor did it decide whether a claim for damages is foreclosed by reformation under RCW 49.44.140(1) nor with the particular question raised here, whether a party's claim for damages under RCW 19.86.030 is somehow foreclosed by RCW 49.44.140.⁴

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