FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/19/2021 4:10 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 99589-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 79145-1-I)

ATM SHAFIQUL KHALID and XENCARE SOFTWARE, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

CITRIX SYSTEMS, INC.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Paula L. Lehmann, WSBA #20678 Sarah Ames, WSBA #51052 Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for Respondent

929 108th Avenue NE, Suite 1500
Bellevue, WA 98004-4786
(425) 646-6100 Phone
(425) 646-6199 Fax

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

III. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4 provides that the Supreme Court will grant discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision only if (1) the decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, (2) the decision is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, (3) the decision involves a significant question of law under the Washington or United States Constitutions; or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. Although Petitioners assert review is necessary on the first, third, and fourth grounds, Petition for Review ("Pet."), at 10, none of the asserted grounds are present.

A. Review is Unwarranted Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) Because Petitioners Concede There Is No Conflict Between the Court of Appeals Decision and any Supreme Court Opinion

Petitioners do *not* argue the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with any decision of this Court but suggest review is appropriate because the Court of Appeals opinion "improperly extends" this Court's prior decisions. Pet. at 10. This is not the legal standard required for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

RAP 13.4(b)(1) requires more than an extension of existing law it requires a "conflict." This is because every legal decision is an extension of existing law. Few litigants will agree with a decision that finds against them. But the mere fact that the Court of Appeals agreed with Citrix on this issue does not create a conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and any Supreme Court case. Petitioners' suggestion RAP 13.4(b)(1) provides grounds for review in this circumstance is nothing more than a thinly veiled argument that the Court of Appeals decision was wrongly decided.

Petitioners argued to the trial court and the Court of Appeals that Sheppard was controlling authority. Supra § II. The Court of Appeals, however, noted Sheppard was distinguishable because it did not deal with a case in which an employment agreement had been alleged to violate RCW 19.86.030 as a matter of law ("per se") because of the operation of a

separate statute. Op. at *12. Apparently conceding the force of this argument, Petitioners now change course and argue that Sheppard (as well as another case cited by the Court of Appeals, Wood v. May, 73 Wn.2d 307, 438 P.2d 587 (1968) (en banc)) is distinguishable. See Pet. at 13 (arguing that "in neither [Sheppard nor Wood] did this Court address" the issue Petitioners allege necessitates review). Petitioners then attempt to distinguish other cases cited by the Court of Appeals. Id. at 15 (arguing Wood and Waterjet Tech., Inc. v. Flow Int'l Corp., 140 Wn.2d 313, 996 P.2d 598 (2000) is inapposite because "this Court was not presented with, nor did it decide" the issue Petitioners allege necessitates review here). But even if one were to assume that these cases were incorrectly cited, citing a distinguishable case does not create a conflict between the Court of Appeals and any Supreme Court decision. The Petition does not identify any Washington Supreme Court case that even allegedly is in direct conflict with the Court of Appeals holding.¹

Petitioners do identify an out-of-circuit federal decision from 1985 as creating a conflict. *See* Pet. at 11, 13 (*citing CVD, Inc. v. Raytheon Co.*, 769 F.2d 842 (1st Cir. 1985)). An alleged conflict with federal law,

¹ The Court of Appeals only cited *Sheppard* (and, then, *Wood* and *Waterjet*) because Petitioners repeatedly argued that *Sheppard* controlled—and it cited them to explain that *Sheppard* was distinguishable. Petitioners, now claiming that *Sheppard* was improperly extended, are unintentionally agreeing with the Court of Appeals that *Sheppard* does not control this case.

however, does not provide a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Moreover, there is no conflict. Petitioners' attempt to create a conflict rests upon a misreading of the Court of Appeals decision to stand for "the proposition that damages are not recoverable by parties subject to unreasonable restraints where the effect of those restraints can be ameliorated prospectively." Pet. at 10-11. But this language is not found in the Court of Appeals decision. As explained above, the Court of Appeals holding is that contracts in violation of RCW 49.44.140 are not per se violations of RCW 19.86.030. Supra § II.B. The Court of Appeals then found that, where a contract can be reformed, the per se rule is inapplicable. Op. at *12. The Court of Appeals said nothing about the availability of damages—it said Petitioners did not have "a cause of action for unlawful restraint of trade" at all. Id. Petitioners' citation to federal law regarding the availability of damages is not relevant to this case and certainly does not create a conflict that would support granting their petition for review.

B. Petitioners' Right to a Jury Trial—Which They Received— Was Undisputed and Does Not Raise a Significant Question of Law Under RAP 13.4(b)(3)

Petitioners argue that review is necessary under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because Petitioners were denied their constitutional right to a jury trial. Pet. at 11. Petitioners did not raise this supposed issue with the Court of Appeals, nor does the Court of Appeals opinion discuss Petitioners' jury trial right. *See generally* Op. & Ex. A. This is explained by the key fact not mentioned by Petitioners—that after Citrix was granted partial summary judgment on the antitrust claim Petitioners now appeal, the case proceeded to a jury trial. Op. at *1. Petitioners' right to a jury trial was never disputed.

In fact, not only did Petitioners already receive a jury trial— Petitioners already received the damages they now suggest they are entitled to seek anew. Petitioners' breach of contract and antitrust claims are both premised on Petitioners' allegation that Citrix damaged Petitioners' business interests. CP 523-549. When antitrust liability is premised on the same course of conduct as a breach of contract, antitrust damages and contract damages are duplicative, and courts do not award both. *See, e.g., Fineman v. Armstrong World Indus., Inc.*, 980 F.2d 171, 218 (3d Cir. 1992) ("We are unpersuaded that a plaintiff whose case concerns a single course of conduct . . . and a single injury . . . should recover those [lost] profits twice or thrice over for each legal theory advanced in favor of liability."). A jury has already determined the amount of damages associated with Petitioners' claims. Op. at *1. Even if the Court heard this case and reversed, there would be no additional question to submit to a jury.²

RAP 13.4(b)(3) provides for review of cases that involve "a significant question of law." It does *not* provide for review of every case in any way connected to any Constitutional right. If it did, and Petitioners' argument were credited, every dismissal or grant of summary judgment in a case where a litigant has a jury trial right would be reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(3)—a patently absurd result that would render RAP 13.4(b)(3) meaningless. At bottom, Petitioners' argument is again nothing more than an argument that the Court of Appeals decision was wrong on the merits.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Present an "Issue of Substantial Public Interest" Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Because the only question of law Petitioners raise on appeal does not implicate any constitutional right, Petitioners cannot claim the appeal concerns a question of law under the Washington or United States Constitution. Petitioners are thus forced to claim, implausibly, that the issue is one of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). It is not. The Court of Appeals dismissal of Petitioners' antitrust claim under RCW

² Had Petitioners' claim also proceeded under RCW 19.86.030, damages could have been trebled. *See* RCW 19.86.090. But treble damages are awarded by "the court . . . in its discretion," not by a jury. *Id.* Petitioners' failure to receive such an award does not implicate the right to a jury trial.

19.86.030 applied longstanding antitrust principles and does not raise an issue of substantial public interest simply because Petitioners believe the antitrust laws ought to be read in a radically new and different way.

As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, there are two ways an antitrust plaintiff may attempt to prove a defendant has violated RCW 19.86.030. First, a plaintiff may prove the defendant's conduct violates the "rule of reason" by proving the defendant's conduct had an "effect on competition in the relevant product market." Op. at *10 (citation omitted). Second, a plaintiff may prove the defendant has engaged in a type of conduct which is illegal "per se." Id. at *11 (citation omitted); see also *Ohio v. Am. Express Co.*, ___ U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 2274, 2283–84 (2018) ("Restraints can be unreasonable in one of two ways. A small group of restraints are unreasonable *per se* Restraints that are not unreasonable *per se* are judged under the rule of reason.") (cleaned up).³ If a defendant engages in conduct that is per se illegal, no proof of effects is required; "any explanation of why the act was done or what its effect might be in a particular case is of no consequence or materiality." Op. at *11.

³ RCW 19.86.030 "is patterned after and contains nearly identical language to the federal Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1," and Washington courts are "guided by the interpretation given by the federal courts to the corresponding federal statutes." *Ballo v. James S. Black Co.*, 39 Wn. App. 21, 25–26 (1984).

A plaintiff may choose to proceed under either or both theories. Because "[p]roof that the defendant's activities had an impact upon competition in a relevant market is an absolutely essential element of the rule of reason case," *Kaplan v. Burroughs Corp.*, 611 F.2d 286, 291 (9th Cir. 1979), "pleading exclusively per se violations can lighten a plaintiff's litigation burdens." *In re Ins. Brokerage Antitrust Litig.*, 618 F.3d 300, 317 (3d Cir. 2010). But proceeding only on a per se theory "is not a riskless strategy. If the court determines that the restraint at issue is sufficiently different from the per se archetypes to require application of the rule of reason, the plaintiff's claims will be dismissed." *Id.* (citation omitted); *see also Texaco Inc. v. Dagher*, 547 U.S. 1, 7 & n.2 (2006) (declining to consider whether practice challenged as *per se* unlawful violated rule of reason when "[r]espondents have not put forth a rule of reason claim").

The Court of Appeals correctly noted here Petitioners have *never* attempted to engage in a rule of reason balancing of all available evidence and have instead *only* argued that Citrix violated RCW 19.86.030 as a matter of law under the "per se" test. In response to Citrix's motion for summary judgment, Petitioners argued (only) that Citrix's actions were illegal per se. *See* Op. at *11 ("Khalid did not argue below or here that the Invention Assignment Clause violates the rule of reason test."); CP 1148-

1178. The question properly before the Court of Appeals was thus whether an Invention Assignment Agreement is among the types of agreement that are per se illegal.⁴

This question is not one of substantial public interest. An employee's right to sue his employer, after leaving a job, not only for breach of contract and a consumer protection violation but also for a violation of the antitrust laws on a per se theory, specifically, is a narrow question that does not prevent employees from suing their former employers under the antitrust laws—so long as they are prepared to prove their case with evidence under the rule of reason. This narrow question of the proper manner in which to prove an antitrust claim is unlike the cases involving important questions of public policy with potentially farreaching consequences this Court has noted implicate public policy. *Cf. Cary v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 130 Wn.2d 335, 347–48, 922 P.2d 1335, 1341–

⁴ Khalid's failure to raise a rule of reason argument before the Superior Court or Court of Appeals waives his ability to make such an argument for the first time here, *see* RAP 2.5, and his suggestion he preserved a rule of reason argument by presenting it to the lower courts "implicit[ly]," Pet. at 16 n.4, strains credulity. But even if credited, summary judgment was appropriate because no evidence supported Khalid's rule of reason theory. *See Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182, 187 (1989) (en banc) ("[A] complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.") (quoting *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322–23 (1986)). Khalid attempts to overcome this evidentiary deficiency by suggesting Citrix bore the burden to "prove its conduct was reasonable," Pet. at 15 n.4, but this gets the law with respect to 19.86.030 backwards: "*the plaintiff has the initial burden* to prove that the challenged restraint has a substantial anticompetitive effect that harms consumers in the relevant market." *Am. Express Co.*, 138 S. Ct. at 2284 (emphasis added); *see also F.T.C. v. Qualcomm Inc.*, 969 F.3d 974, 991 (9th Cir. 2020) (same).

42 (1996) (en banc) (determining whether exclusionary clause in insurance policies are void against public policy is an issue of "substantial public importance"); *In re Marriage of Ortize*, 108 Wn.2d 643, 645-46, 740 P.2d 843, 845 (1987) (en banc) (retroactive application of earlier Supreme Court opinion was a question of substantial public importance under RAP 13.4(b)(4)). Petitioners have not pointed to any public interest that would be served by having this court review a Court of Appeals decision that affirmed his damages award but held that partial summary judgment was correct because Petitioners chose to bring only a per se antitrust claim.

Nor is Petitioners' suggestion that this Court should take the opportunity to declare a new type of conduct per se illegal under the antitrust laws correct. "Per se treatment is proper only once experience with a particular kind of restraint enables the court to predict with confidence that the rule of reason will condemn it." *California ex rel. Harris v. Safeway, Inc.*, 651 F.3d 1118, 1133 (9th Cir. 2011) (cleaned up). "To justify per se condemnation, a challenged practice must have manifestly anticompetitive effects and lack any redeeming virtue." *Id.* (quoting *Leegin Creative Leather Prods., Inc. v. PSKS, Inc.*, 551 U.S. 877, 886 (2007)) (cleaned up). "Typically only 'horizontal' restraints restraints 'imposed by agreement between competitors'—qualify as unreasonable *per se.*" *Am. Express Co.*, 138 S. Ct. at 2283–84 (citation omitted). As the Court of Appeals noted, the practices that are typically condemned *per se* without reference to evidence "are price fixing, group boycotts and tying arrangements." Op. at *11. An employer-employee Invention Assignment Agreement is fundamentally unlike the manifestly anticompetitive arrangements condemned as *per se* violations of the antitrust laws, and this case is not the appropriate opportunity to create new law on the issue.

As the Court of Appeals explained, not every agreement that violates some other Washington law is an antitrust violation. Op. at *12. When the legislature wants to declare violation of some other law to be a violation of RCW 19.86, it does so expressly. *Id*.⁵ The Court of Appeals was correct to reject Petitioners' unsupported theory of *per se* liability as inconsistent with the law. And because Petitioners could not prove a violation of RCW 19.86.030, the Court of Appeals was correct to affirm the Superior Court's grant of summary judgment. Op. at 13.⁶

⁵ Contradicting themselves, Petitioners elsewhere concede that the nature of the restraint and not the question of whether the restraint violates Washington law is the right question: "Washington and federal courts have not evaluated the legality of restraints of trade on the basis of legislative declarations but on the basis of the nature of the restraint at issue." *Id.* at 15 n.4 (citations omitted).

⁶ Petitioners wrongly suggest the Court of Appeals determination Petitioners failed to present either a viable per se or rule of reason case was "not ... the basis for [the Court of Appeals] decision." Petitioners do not explain the basis on which they reach this conclusion. But even if this were correct, it would be immaterial—this analysis is a

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